THE SUPREME COURT OF SOUTH CAROLINA

RECEIVED

Dec 16 2024

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ARO-D Enterprises, LLC, Respondent,

v.

Tiger Enterprises & Trading, Inc., Bonnie Walker and
Dwight Walker, Petitioners,

Tiger Enterprises and Trading, Inc., Third-Party
Plaintiff/Petitioners,

v.

Rudy A. Dixon, Frank T. Gangi, and T3 Aviation, LLC,
Third-Party Defendants/Respondents.

Appellate Case No. 2024-000777

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

Wesley D. Few (Bar # 15565)
Wesley D. Few, LLC
Post Office Box 9398
Greenville, SC 29604
(864) 527-5906 | wes@wesleyfew.com

December 16, 2024

Greenville, South Carolina

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pleadings and Initial Motions

Respondent ARO-D Enterprises, LLC (“ARO-D”) filed this lawsuit in the Greenville County Court of Common Pleas on March 27, 2020, naming Appellants Tiger Enterprises & Trading, Inc., (“Tiger”), Dwight Walker (“Dwight”) and Bonnie Walker (“Bonnie”) as Defendants. (R. pp. 19-35). ARO-D brought claims as follows: (i) Bailment (now moot), (ii) Claim and Delivery (now moot), (iii) Unjust Enrichment / Restitution, (iv) S.C. Unfair Trade Practices Act, (v) Constructive Fraud, (vi) Negligent Misrepresentation, (vii) Constructive Trust as to Tiger, (viii) Accounting, (ix) Conversion against Tiger, and (x) Appointment of a Receiver. On April 9, 2020, ARO-D filed its motion for a preliminary injunction and / or receivership, which was denied by order dated June 11, 2020. (R. pp. 1-3).

Appellant Tiger filed its Third-Party Complaint, Answer and Counterclaims on April 28, 2020, bringing counterclaims against ARO-D, and third-party claims against ARO-D’s principal Rudy Dixon,¹ and Respondents Frank Gangi and his company T3 Aviation, Inc., out of Massachusetts. (R. pp. 36-61). Appellant Tiger’s claims consisted of the following: (i) Breach of Contract against Dixon and ARO-D (dismissed on partial summary judgment), (ii) Constructive Fraud against Dixon, ARO-D and Gangi, (iii) Fraudulent Inducement (Rescission) against Dixon

¹ On December 14, 2023, Respondent Rudy Dixon passed away. This was confirmed by counsel to Respondents Dixon and ARO-D Enterprises LLC, Mr. Andrighetti, in filings with the Circuit Court on Dec. 29, 2023, and Jan. 10, 2024. On July 25, 2024, the Circuit Court issued an order relieving Mr. Andrighetti as counsel to Respondents ARO-D and Rudy Dixon. Appellants maintain an estate for Respondent Rudy Dixon must be opened in Florida, where he was deceased, as this is necessary to address Dixon’s and ARO-D’s ownership of the airplane parts that are the subject of this action, and, specifically, the June 11, 2020 order. (R. pp. 1-3). Appellants are in the process of contacting Dixon’s heirs for this purpose, otherwise, after notice to his heirs, a third-party will be appointed as Trustee / Personal Representative of his estate.

and ARO-D, (iv) Promissory Estoppel against Dixon and ARO-D, (v) Interference with Contract against Gangi and T3 (dismissed on partial summary judgment), (vi) Interference with Prospective Contractual Relations against Gangi and T3, (vii) S.C. Unfair Trade Practices Act (“UTPA”) against all Respondents (dismissed on partial summary judgment), (viii) Constructive Trust against Dixon and ARO-D, (ix) Civil Conspiracy against all Respondents, (x) Barratry against Gangi and T3. (*Id.*).

On June 11, 2020, the trial court held a hearing on ARO-D’s motion(s) for a preliminary injunction and / or receivership, filed April 9, 2020. (R. pp. 1-3). The trial court order denied ARO-D’s above-identified motions on June 11, 2020, stating, *inter alia*, as follows:

After review of the record and hearing argument of counsel, the Court finds that the Plaintiff has not established the required elements for a Preliminary Injunction or the Appointment of a Receiver. Therefore, Plaintiff’s Motion is denied. In conjunction with the hearing, counsel for their respective parties did enter an agreement as follows: 1) No portion of the Hawker inventory as defined in Plaintiff’s Motion shall be sold, rented or disposed of in any manner without the written consent of both parties-ARO D Enterprises, LLC and Tiger Enterprises & Trading Inc. 2) All proceeds from any sale, lease or disposal of the Hawker inventory shall be deposited in a trust account of one of the attorneys in this action as designated by the parties; 3) The parties shall actively market the Hawker inventory; and 4) In the event that any inspection is requested by any party, then such inspection shall be performed by Forensic Research Group, Inc. and its Director, Michael F. O’Shea and reports provided to all parties.

This agreement was placed on the record and is the Order of the Court.

It is so Ordered.

Id. at 2 of 3 (underline emphasis added).

In the middle of 2020, Respondents filed a second round of motions, for example, to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction and on other grounds. Those motions were heard on August 19, 2020, and denied by three separate orders filed August 20, 2020. (R. pp. 157, lines 10-15). The orders stated, in relevant part as follows:

- Third-Party Motions of Gangi and T3 “under 12(b)(2), 12(b)(5), and 12(b)(6)” are denied;
- “Plaintiff [ARO-D] is allowed fifteen (15) days to review [Appellants’] Responses and notify the Court if the Motion needs to be revisited,” and
- “This matter comes before the Court pursuant to Plaintiff’s Motion for Rule to Show Cause. Plaintiff’s Motion as far as the contempt is denied. Court will allow parties to modify Judge Gravely’s Order regarding the process for selling the associated aircraft parts.” (R. p. 157).

Id. (underline emphasis added)

On September 2, 2020, Respondents Gangi and T3 filed separate responsive pleadings, bringing counterclaims against Appellants for: (i) Declaratory Judgment, (ii) Malicious Prosecution, and (iii) Reservation of Rights. (R. pp. 71-109). Appellants answered the claims of T3 and Gangi on October 7, 2020. (R. pp. 110-127).

Facts Regarding Airplane Parts

The discussions between Appellant Dwight Walker and Respondent Rudy Dixon surrounding the subject airplane parts in Nigeria began at least as early as 2014. (R. p. 271, ¶ 5). In June of 2018, Dixon asked Tiger to buy the parts for \$685,000.00. (R. p. 271, ¶ 10). Tiger, however, “made it very clear that [it] was only interested in a Consignment Agreement arrangement, and [Tiger] sent over [its] first proposed Consignment Agreement to Mr. Dixon.” (R. p. 272, ¶ 11). Tiger did not want to buy the parts, and certainly not without an opportunity to inspect in person, because, as the party owning airplane parts, you incur the risk that the parts may not be certifiable under FAA standards. (R. 26. P. 267, lines 9-14; *see also* R. . 133, ¶ 10, and p. 134, ¶ 14). Without certification, these types of airplane parts are not sellable / marketable.

A new round of discussions regarding the airplane parts between Tiger and Dixon / ARO-

D began in June and July 2019. (R. p. 272, ¶¶'s 12-15). At this point in time (July 2019), Dixon had obtained the rights and ability to ship the airplane parts out of Nigeria. (R. p. 133, ¶ 8, p. 135, ¶ 15, lines 2-3). The ultimate transmission of the parts by Respondent ARO-D from Nigeria to the United States to Appellant Tiger's warehouse was authorized by Dixon on or about July 24, 2019, and occurred between July 26-31, 2019. (R. p. 272, ¶ 16 to p. 273, ¶¶'s 17-20). On July 24, 2019, Tiger sent its Letter Agreement (R. p. 164-165) to Dixon via electronic means. (R. p. 272, ¶ 14).

Even before Tiger received any of these parts, on July 30, 2019, Respondent Gangi reached out to Tiger via email about buying some or all of the parts. (R. p. 273, ¶ 21).

On August 5, 2019, Respondent Dixon emailed Respondent Gangi, stating:

Frank, good morning, I have seen read your email to me and Tiger Dwight, we want to let you know that we want to do business with you not in that kind of attitude to me are my client, I am not In the piece parts business, If you want buy any parts from the Hawker 4000 you have to go Tiger not me, those kind words I don't use I am a man love God and what I do Is all In respect to everyone,
Thanks Rudy
ARO ENTERPRISE

(R. p. 275, ¶ 24) (underline emphasis added).

On or about August 27-28, 2019, Dixon came to Appellant Tiger's facilities in South Carolina. (R. p. 276, ¶ 33). Dixon never signed the Consignment Agreement while he was in South Carolina, but when he left, he instructed Tiger to "keep selling" the airplane parts. (R. p. 277, ¶¶'s 34-37). By September / October 2019, all four (4) Respondents ARO-D / Dixon and Gangi / T3 had the same legal counsel and they asserted a common interest privilege over all their communications since that time, refusing to produce communications in discovery. (R. p. 158, lines 1-2).

Appellant was never able to take the deposition of Respondent Dixon. (R. p. 200, ¶ 3). Dixon also never gave any notice to Tiger that their “client” relationship had ended. (R. p. 132-135).

Dispositive Motions

On Dec. 30, 2020, Respondents ARO-D and Dixon filed their Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 128-146). On Feb. 12, 2021, Respondents Gangi and T3 filed their Motion(s) for Partial Summary Judgment. (R. pp. 147-149).

On April 16, 2021, the trial court issued an order granting partial summary judgment to ARO-D and Dixon for claim and delivery of the airplane parts. (R. pp. 4-9). Also, on April 16, 2021, the trial court issued an order granting partial summary judgment to Gangi and T3 on their motions regarding Appellants’ claims for Interference with Contract and under the UTPA. (R. pp. 10-15). Appellants filed a Rule 59 motion to reconsider, alter or amend on April 26, 2021 (R. pp. 150-168), which was denied by order filed July 6, 2021. (R. pp. 16-18, 297-299).

Appellants’ Notice of Appeal in this matter, filed August 3, 2021, relates to the trial court’s two orders filed April 16, 2021 and the order denying reconsideration of those orders filed July 6, 2021. (R. pp. 280-299). These orders stated, in relevant part, as follows:

- “Having concluded that a valid, enforceable agreement did not exist between Plaintiff and [Tiger] with regard to the aircraft parts at issue, it necessarily follows that [Tiger] cannot have a legally cognizable claim against T3 Aviation, Inc. and Mr. Gangi for tortious interference with that non-existent contract.” *Id.* at 4 of 6 (R. p. 13, lines 4-7);
- “[Tiger] has not rebutted these deficiencies,” in granting summary judgment in favor of Gangi and T3’s on Tiger’s UTPA claim. *Id.* at 5 of 6 (R. p. 14, lines 7-9); and
- “The [Appellants] have failed to provide any evidence or testimony claiming the

existence of a contract or written, signed agreement between the parties.” *Id.* at 4 of 6 (R. p. 7, ¶ 3, lines 4-5).

Id.

The trial court’s orders that are the subject of this appeal did not address or mention the S.C. Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (S.C. Code Ann. § 26-6-10 *et seq.*). (R. pp. 4-9, 10-15). The orders also did not analyze or consider the existence or extent of the “client” relationship Dixon referred to in his Aug. 5, 2019 email to Respondent Gangi. (R. p. 168).

On May 29, 2021, the trial court issued an order granting in part Gangi’s Motion for a Protective Order from appearing for his deposition scheduled for June 2, 2021. As noted above, Appellants were not able to take the deposition of Rudy Dixon prior to issuance of the orders granting partial summary judgment that are the subject of this appeal, or before he passed away on Dec. 14, 2023. (R. p. 155, ¶ 1, p. 200, ¶ 3). The parties never altered the agreement entered by the trial court in its June 11, 2020 order (R. pp. 1-3), identified and block-quoted above “regarding the process for selling the associated aircraft parts.” (R. p. 157).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“When reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court.” *Doe v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 393 S.C. 240, 244, 711 S.E.2d 908, 910 (2011) (citing *Fleming v. Rose*, 350 S.C. 488, 493, 567 S.E.2d 857, 860 (2002)).

“Summary judgment is appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact such that the moving party must prevail as a matter of law.” *Doe*, 711 S.E.2d at 910 (citing Rule 56(c), SCRCP). “In determining whether any triable issues of material fact exist, the court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences that may be drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. *Id.* (citing *Fleming*, 567 S.E.2d at 860).

ARGUMENT

This appeal presents the unique situation whereby Plaintiff, Respondent ARO-D (and its sole member, Respondent Rudy Dixon) told Respondent Frank Gangi on August 5, 2019, “if you want to buy any parts from the Hawker 4000 you have to go to Tiger not me.” (R. p. 168). In that same email transmission, Dixon refers to Tiger as his “client.” (*Id.*).

This same Respondent, Dixon, refused to show up for his deposition multiple times and has since passed away. Unless the Court of Appeals decision is reversed, the Court will be, in effect, viewing undisputed facts whereby one party tells another party Appellant is his “client,” and yet also finds that that party’s deposition could not possibly have led to facts which, when viewed in the light most favorable to Appellant, showed the existence of a genuine dispute of fact that an agreement existed between Respondent ARO-D and Appellant Tiger.

On August 5, 2019, the subject airplane parts were voluntarily shipped by Respondents ARO-D / Dixon to Appellant Tiger from Nigeria. (R. p. 236, line 13 to p. 237, line 3). Obviously, in his email to Respondent Gangi on August 5, 2019 referring to Tiger as his “client,” Dixon is responding to an inquiry from Gangi about the airplane parts from Nigeria that he sent to Tiger. (R. pp. 168, 275). Appellant Dwight Walker (principal and owner of Appellant Tiger) is copied on the email. (R. pp. 168, 275). The term, “client,” at minimum, shows the existence of an contractual / agency relationship. As can be seen from his emails, Respondent Dixon spoke his *own form of the English language*. Gangi is trying to buy Hawker 4000 parts at least as early as July 30, 2019. (R. p. 273, ¶ 22). When viewed in the context of the additional statement to respondent Gangi, “if you want buy any parts from the Hawker 4000 you have to go to Tiger not me,” (R. p. 168), that alone is sufficient evidence for a factfinder to conclude an agreement

existed between Respondent ARO-D / Dixon and Appellant Tiger.

By his own words, Respondent Dixon for Respondent ARO-D admits the existence of a “client” relationship with Appellant Tiger not for some unrelated matter, but on the very matter at issue in Respondent ARO-D’s lawsuit, namely the “Hawker 4000” airplane parts. (R. p. 20, ¶¶’s 8-10). Dixon’s Affidavit (R. p. 132-135) does not dispute or take issue with the specific factual timeline laid out by Dwight Walker in his Affidavit, including with respect to his promise to sign the Consignment Agreement in person or the existence of the Letter Agreement. (R. p. 272, ¶ 14). Dixon’s communication to Dwight Walker as he was leaving South Carolina in late August of 2019 ratified the 45 % commission term in the Consignment Agreement. (R. p. 277, ¶ 37).

I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PREMATURELY GRANTED

In its Opinion affirming the judgment of the lower court, the Court of Appeals states, “Appellants have not demonstrated further discovery would uncover additional, relevant evidence that would create a genuine issue of material fact.” *Id.* at 2 of 5. Next, the Opinion concludes, “In addition, we find Appellants had sufficient time to depose Dixon.” *Id.* This first statement presumes knowledge of what Respondent Dixon’s testimony would be. This second statement makes an unnecessary and unsupported statement as to what could have or should have already happened in the discovery process, involving a person that did not reside in the state of South Carolina and for a lawsuit moving forward in the midst of the Covid-19 pandemic.

In its order dated May 29, 2021, the trial court granted Respondent Gangi’s Motion for a Protective Order from appearing for his deposition scheduled for June 2, 2021. Respondents Gangi and Dixon were not eager, or willing to be deposed short of a court order, yet the Court of

Appeals Opinion makes findings even the trial court did not make as to what discovery should have taken place prior to this appeal. Appellants agree, they should have been able to depose the Plaintiff (Respondent Dixon / ARO-D) before the trial court ruled on the subject motions for partial summary judgment.

Dixon, despite bringing this lawsuit in this state, simply refused to attend his deposition, including hiding out in Nigeria and making countless excuses for why he would not appear for a deposition in the forum County. (R. p. 155 at ¶ 1, p. 200 at ¶ 2). The only evidence in the record establishes this. The ability of a Plaintiff to file a lawsuit and evade being deposed is the epitome of prejudice to any Defendant, particularly when the existing record includes statements, as follows from that Plaintiff / Respondent ARO-D / Dixon:

- August 5, 2019, to Respondent Gangi, Tiger is my “client” (R. p. 168, 275);
- “If you want buy any parts from the Hawker 4000 you have to go Tiger not me,” (R. p. 168, 275).

The above statements were made in the midst of this dispute that arose when Gangi could not get what he wanted from Tiger, as shown by his threatening email sent on July 30, 2019 at 1:28 P.M. (R. pp. 223, 273, ¶ 22).

I.A. DIXON’S CONDUCT RATIFIED EXISTENCE OF AGREEMENT

These statements alone, which are indisputably in the record, are sufficient to establish a disputed issue of fact as to the scope and terms of the agreement between ARO-D and Tiger. The existence of an agreement between these parties is undisputed by Dixon’s own words and actions. (R. p. 132-135).

In *Baughman v. At&T*, 306 S.C. 101, 112, 410 S.E.2d 537, 543 (1991), this Court stated:

Since it is a drastic remedy, summary judgment "should be cautiously invoked so that no person will be improperly deprived of a trial of the disputed factual issues." Watson v. Southern Ry. Co., 420 F. Supp. 483, 486 (D.S.C. 1975); *see also* Holloman v. McAllister, 289 S.C. 183, 186, 345 S.E.2d 728, 729 (1986) ("an extreme remedy to be cautiously invoked"). This means, among other things, that summary judgment must not be granted until the **opposing party has had a full and fair opportunity to complete discovery**. 10A Wright & Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 2741, p. 543 (1983); 6 Moore's Federal Practice para. 56.02[6], p. 56-39 (2d. ed. 1990).

Id. (bold and underline emphasis added).

In Baughman, the parties had conducted extensive discovery, much of which was dominated by the defense's extensive discovery. Id. at 544 (noting despite "two years into the litigation, Plaintiffs had not yet received satisfactory responses to their interrogatories regarding the substances emitted from the Nassau plant."). Here, Respondent Rudy Dixon, Respondent ARO-D's sole owner and principal (now deceased), evaded being deposed during the entirety of this litigation. (R. 155, 200). Even after the filing of this Notice of Appeal, on Oct. 25 2021, the undersigned counsel to Appellants was informed that Mr. Dixon "was still in the hospital as of 2 weeks ago and he was waiting on a room in a nursing home." (not in the DOM). As was the case in Baughman, one party (the non-moving party) has been deprived of the opportunity to obtain necessary discovery from the other party (the moving party).

The record in this case, even if all that is considered is the June 10, 2020 Affidavit of Dwight Walker (R.270-279), establishes Appellant Tiger has done more than to "'show there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts' but [has] 'come forward with 'specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial.'"' Baughman at 545. When coupled with the statements from Dixon referenced above, sufficient evidence is already available for a jury to view (in the light most favorable to Tiger) and conclude an agreement existed between Tiger and ARO-D on July 30, 2019 and also on August 5, 2019. Respondent Gangi's threatening email

dated July 30, 2019 (R. p. 223, 273, ¶ 22), shows he was aware of and intent on ruining the existing relationship between ARO-D / Dixon and Tiger.

The June 10, 2020 Affidavit of Dwight Walker is evidence of an agreement between Appellant and ARO-D / Dixon. (R. pp. 270-279). Respondent Dixon himself subsequently confirms the existence of the parties' agreement in his written communications with Frank Gangi and others, including stating in an email on July 31, 2019, that Tiger has "full authorization to sell or trade any parts from the Hawker 4000 aircraft." (R. p. 153, ¶ 6, pp. 167, 208, and 220).

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