THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

**RECEIVED**

**Jan 15 2025**

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Perry H. Gravely, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-000777

ARO-D Enterprises, LLC ..... Respondent,

v.

Tiger Enterprises & Trading, Inc., Bonnie Walker and  
Dwight Walker ..... Petitioners,

Tiger Enterprises & Trading, Inc., ..... Third-Party Plaintiff / Petitioner,

v.

Rudy A. Dixon, Frank T. Gangi, and  
T3 Aviation, LLC ..... Third-Party Defendants / Respondents.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**  
**FRANK T. GANGI & T3 AVIATION, LLC**

---

Steven Edward Buckingham (S.C. Bar No. 0075089)

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THE CAPTION OF THE PETITION IS NOT CORRECT.**

Petitioners are identified as TET, Mr. Walker, and Mrs. Walker; Respondents are identified as ARO-D, Dixon, Gangi, and T3. However, as explained below, the only Petitioner is TET, and the only Respondents are T3 and Gangi.

#### **A. Dixon is not now, and has never been, a party to these appellate proceedings.**

On August 3, 2021, TET filed the notice of appeal that commenced these appellate proceedings. (R. 280.) The decisions appealed from comprise: (1) an order of April 16, 2021 granting ARO-D's motion for partial summary judgment, (R. 4); and (2) an order of April 16, 2021 granting the motion for partial summary judgment of T3 and Gangi, (R. 10).

The order granting relief in ARO-D's favor was precipitated by the filing of a motion for partial summary judgment by ARO-D on December 30, 2020. (R. 128.) That motion was narrowly tailored to address only ARO-D's second cause of action, for claim and delivery. With respect to that cause of action, ARO-D was the only plaintiff, and it was the only party that moved for summary judgment on that claim. Accordingly, when the trial court granted summary judgment as to the claim and delivery action, ARO-D was the only prevailing party. Therefore, necessarily, when TET filed its notice of appeal as to the order on claim and delivery, the only parties directly involved in that determination were TET and ARO-D. Dixon—in his individual capacity—was not a party to order granting summary judgment on claim and delivery, and consequently, he was not directly involved in the underlying appellate proceedings on this issue, nor is he presently a party to this Petition.

A similar analysis applies with respect to the order granting partial summary judgment in favor of T3 and Gangi. Their motion was filed on February 12, 2021; ARO-D did not join in the motion, nor did Dixon. (R. 147.) Accordingly, when partial summary judgment was granted in favor of T3 and Gangi, they were the only prevailing parties.

Consistent with this procedural history, when the Court of Appeals took jurisdiction of this case upon TET's filing of its notice of appeal, the two components of the appeal were:

- (1) The appeal of TET against ARO-D, with respect to the trial court's grant of partial summary judgment in ARO-D's favor on the claim and delivery action; and,
- (2) The appeal of TET against T3 and Gangi, with respect to the trial court's grant of partial summary judgment in favor of T3 and Gangi as to the actions for tortious interference with contract and SCUTPA (as well as for the declaratory judgment action brought by T3 and Gangi as to the non-existence of a predicate contract to sustain an action for tortious interference).

Dixon was simply not involved as a party moving for affirmative relief in the orders from which this appeal was taken, and is not a respondent-party in this Petition.

**B. Mr. and Mrs. Walker are not Petitioners.**

As discussed above, neither of the Walkers was directly involved in the motions for which summary judgment was granted, and which have been appealed.

With respect to T3 and Gangi, these Respondents were made party-defendants to the underlying action by virtue of a third-party complaint filed by TET. Among various

other causes of action, TET sued T3 and Gangi for tortious interference with contract and SCUTPA. T3 and Gangi countersued TET for a declaratory judgment that no contract ever existed that could sustain TET's action for tortious interference with contract. Accordingly, when TET filed its appeal of the trial court order granting partial summary judgment in favor of T3 and Gangi, the only appellant on this aspect of the appellate proceedings was TET.<sup>2</sup>

The same analysis holds with respect to the grant of summary judgment in ARO-D's favor on the claim and delivery issue. ARO-D's pleading makes clear that affirmative relief on claim and delivery is sought against TET—not Mr. Walker, and not Mrs. Walker. (R. 19.) Accordingly, when ARO-D filed its motion for partial summary judgment, the only party-opponent on that specific issue was TET. And, when the trial court granted ARO-D's motion, the only party whose interests were directly and adversely affected was TET.

It is therefore not surprising that the Rule 59 motion pertaining to the orders presently on appeal was filed by TET, and was not joined by either of the Walkers. (R. 150.) In similar fashion, it is not surprising that the pertinent notice of appeal was filed by TET exclusively, again, without Mr. or Mrs. Walker's participation. (R. 280.) In fact, nowhere in the record does it appear that Mr. or Mrs. Walker ever filed a notice of appeal from any decision of the trial court. It is strange, then, that Mr. and Mrs. Walker have been identified as "Appellants," first, and now "Petitioners," despite the fact that they are not and have never been proper parties to these appellate proceedings in their individual capacities.

---

<sup>2</sup> This is consistent with Petitioners' Rule 59 motion before the trial court, in which the tortious interference and SCUTPA actions are identified as belonging to TET.

**C. ARO-D is no longer a Respondent.**

As discussed above, the only issue in these appellate proceedings that directly involved ARO-D is the order granting partial summary judgment in favor of ARO-D as to its claim and delivery action. Now, however, it appears that issue has been abandoned.

At oral argument before the Court of Appeals on December 7, 2023, TET advised the Court that it was withdrawing at least the claim and delivery issue from consideration. Although this is not reflected in the panel decision of the Court of Appeals, it has been acknowledged by TET's counsel twice in writing: first, in footnote 3 of the petition for rehearing, (R. 378); then, in footnote 3 of the petition for writ of certiorari.

There are two immediate impacts of this concession on these appellate proceedings. First, as discussed above, the only issue involved in this appeal that pertains directly to ARO-D is the disposition of the claim and delivery action in ARO-D's favor. The fact that TET has explicitly abandoned this issue necessarily terminates further involvement by ARO-D in these proceedings. Second: with the abandonment of the claim and delivery issue, the Court of Appeals' disposition of that portion of the appeal has become the law of the case.

What remains is a far narrower scope of review than was presented to the Court of Appeals. Specifically, the only issue remaining for this Court's consideration is the affirmation of the trial court's order granting partial summary judgment in favor of T3 and Gangi against TET's actions for tortious interference with contract and for violation of the Unfair Trade Practices Act.

And even this is subject to further refinement. In both its petition for rehearing and its petition for writ of certiorari, TET expressly "conceded [that] the claim and

delivery issue was moot, and do[es] not challenge here the decision of the Court [of Appeals] in Heading No. 4 on page 4 of 5.” (R. 378.) Item No. 4 of the Court of Appeals’ opinion provides as follows: “We find no error by the circuit court in granting ARO-D’s motion for summary judgment on its claim and delivery cause of action. . . . In addition, we affirm the circuit court’s finding that no written agreement existed giving possessory rights in the property to Appellants.” (R. 361-62 (emphasis added).) This would seem to dovetail with Item No. 2 of the Court of Appeals’ opinion, which “hold[s] the circuit court did not err in granting summary judgment by finding no written agreement existed between ARO-D and [TET].” (R. 360.)

If it is the case that TET has conceded the holding of Item No. 4 of the Court of Appeals’ opinion, then the issue of whether an agreement existed between TET and ARO-D regarding the Hawker Inventory has been put to rest. The trial court’s decision that no contract existed has been affirmed by the Court of Appeals, it has not been appealed, and the matter is now the law of the case. See, e.g., Charleston Lumber Co. v. Miller Housing Co., 338 S.C. 171, 174-75, 525 S.E.2d 869, 871 (2000) (citations omitted) (holding that an unappealed decision of the Court of Appeals becomes the law of the case for purposes of further review by the Supreme Court).

This, too, would seem to affect other aspects of these appellate proceedings. Section I.A of TET’s brief to this Court is titled “Dixon’s conduct ratified existence of agreement,” (Pet.’s Br. at 10); Section I.B is targeted at the lower courts’ failure to apply the Uniform Electronic Transactions Act (“UETA”) to the circumstances of the dispute in order to create a contract, (id. at 13). Neither of these arguments matters, however, if this Court is to honor TET’s concession; the absence of an agreement between TET and

ARO-D would be the law of the case, no further argument would be capable of its resurrection, and the Court of Appeals' decision affirming summary judgment in favor of T3 and Gangi as to tortious interference should be upheld. Accordingly, the only matter remaining for this Court's consideration would seem to be consideration of the Court of Appeals' decision affirming summary judgment in favor of T3 and Gangi as to TET's SCUTPA action.

**D. Section Concluding Statement**

It is no longer clear to the undersigned whether and to what extent matters resolved by the Court of Appeals remain extant for appellate review. It seems reasonably clear that the issues regarding the claim and delivery action have been withdrawn or abandoned, and that the issues regarding the SCUTPA action remain. However, between TET claiming to have abandoned the appeal with respect to matters decided in Item No. 4 of the Court of Appeals' opinion, and yet continuing to argue issues that are relevant only if the existence of a written agreement is still in dispute, the undersigned is left with no choice but to address issues that may or may not remain in dispute.

Ultimately, however, it would seem that the only Petitioner properly before this Court is TET, and the only Respondents properly before this Court are T3 and Gangi. Consequently, and for the sake of simplicity, when "Respondents" are referred to hereinafter, that term is intended to describe only T3 and Gangi.

**II. AN INITIAL COMMENT ON THE ORGANIZATION OF THIS BRIEF**

The undersigned has put a great deal of thought into how best to organize the arguments presented in this brief. Certainly, the ambiguity of TET's abandonment of the issues decided in Item No. 4 of the Court of Appeals' opinion has muddied the waters as

to what matters continue to require discussion. Regardless, the issues that perhaps remain do not fall neatly into discrete silos that would allow separate, self-contained analysis. For example, despite TET's argument that the trial court's grant of partial summary judgment was premature, that is not a basis for reversal *per se*; as discussed below, summary judgment might be premature when further discovery is warranted as to a specific issue or set of issues. Accordingly, with respect to this case, the trial court's grant of partial summary judgment would constitute error only if the court's failure to afford TET additional time for discovery reasonably prejudiced its ability to develop some identifiable aspect of its claim. This requires a discussion of both substance and procedure.

All that to say this: the following arguments are organized around the substantive actions implicated by the trial court's grant of partial summary judgment. The first topic is the trial court's decision that no agreement existed between ARO-D and TET; the second is the trial court's decision granting summary judgment in favor of T3 and Gangi as to the action for tortious interference with contract; and the third, the trial court's decision granting summary judgment in favor of T3 and Gangi as to SCUTPA.

Within each of these topics, Respondents have endeavored to address various procedural aspects in addition to their substance, including whether the issue has been preserved for review, whether the appropriate standard was applied at the trial and appellate court levels, and ultimately, whether the prior dispositions should be affirmed.

**III. THE COURT OF APPEALS PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION THAT NO AGREEMENT EXISTED BETWEEN ARO-D AND TET.**

As an initial matter, Respondents perceive that TET's concession as to the matters decided in Item No. 4 of the Court of Appeals' opinion has removed this issue from

dispute. The Court of Appeals “affirm[ed] the circuit court’s finding that no written agreement existed giving possessory rights in the property to [TET],” (R. 362), and TET has affirmatively represented that it “do[es] not challenge here the decision of the Court in Heading No. 4 on page 4 of 5,” (R. 378). Consequently, the determination that no agreement existed between ARO-D and TET—as found by the trial court, and as affirmed by the Court of Appeals—would seem to be the law of the case. However, in the event the Supreme Court deems otherwise, Respondents will proceed with analyzing the merits of this issue.

**A. The relevant portions of the lower courts’ decisions.**

ARO-D’s motion for partial summary judgment sought immediate possession of the Hawker Inventory, claiming that ARO-D was the owner of the property, that TET was in wrongful possession of the property, and that TET had refused to surrender the property to ARO-D. TET opposed the relief sought, claiming that it had a valid consignment agreement with ARO-D that vested TET with the right to possess the Hawker Inventory. At summary judgment, it was TET’s contention that a genuine dispute of material fact existed as to whether a valid consignment agreement existed, based on the sworn statements of Mr. Walker and Dixon, and additionally, whether UETA provided an additional avenue through which the trial court may find evidence sufficient to support the inference that a consignment agreement had been established. (R. 233.)

In furtherance of its motion for partial summary judgment, ARO-D provided the trial court with an affidavit from Dixon, disclaiming the existence of a consignment agreement with TET, (R. 132), as well as excerpts from the deposition of Dan Hansen,

who was a vice president of TET with direct, personal knowledge of the relationship between ARO-D and TET. Vice president Hansen affirmed that no consignment agreement ever existed between the parties. (R. 136.) This information was bolstered by a previously filed affidavit from Mr. Walker, TET's chief executive officer, which also denied the existence of a consignment agreement with ARO-D regarding the Hawker Inventory. (R. 270.)

By contrast, in opposition to ARO-D's motion, TET filed nothing. TET submitted no affidavits or exhibits for the trial court's consideration, choosing instead to rest on oral argument.

These circumstances led the trial court to render the following decision:

Defendant TET's Vice-President Dan Hansen testified that no signed agreement existed, as previously cited herein. Similarly, Defendant Dwight Walker, TET's co-owner, acknowledged that Plaintiff refused to sign consignment agreement. (Aff. Dwight Walker, [R. 270], Par. 34). The Defendants have failed to provide any evidence or testimony claiming the existence of a contract or written, signed agreement between the parties. Defendants further argue that summary judgment is premature because discovery is not yet completed. Notwithstanding the fact that this case is nearly one year old, Defendants have not provided any indication that additional discovery would lead to admissible evidence that a written agreement exists, which the Defendants have already testified does not exist.

(R. 7-8.)

In its decision, the Court of Appeals held that: (1) the trial court applied the correct standard of review; (2) the trial court did not err in granting the summary judgment requested over TET's request for more time to conduct discovery; (3) the trial court did not err in withholding application of the UETA, specifically because TET had not presented any evidence "that the parties had agreed to conduct their business by

electronic means;” and (4) the trial court did not err in concluding that no agreement existed between ARO-D and TET. (R. 359.)

**B. The trial court applied the appropriate standard of review.**

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